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Independent Auditor's Report 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City 
Council 

City of Lancaster, Kentucky 

Certified Public Accountants 

132 North Second Street 
P.O. Box 729 

Danville, Kentucky 40422 
859/236-3924 

FAX 859/236-6435 

52 Liberty Square 
Liberty, Kentucky 42539 

606/787-9928 
kerbaughandrodes.com 

We have audited the accompanying fmancial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lancaster, Kentucky (the City), as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, and the standards applicable 
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinions. 
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Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the bnsiness-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City, as of Jllile 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position, and, 
where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Change in Accounting Principle 

As described in Note M to the financial statements, in 2018, the City adopted new accounting guidance, GASE No. 
75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemp/oyment Benefits Other Than Pensions. Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion 
and analysis, budgetary comparison information, historical pension information, and historical other post
employment benefit information on pages 3 through 8 and 38 through 43 be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic fmancial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of fmancial reporting for 
placing the basic fmancial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods 
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 14, 2019, on our 
consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to 
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial reporting or 
on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the City's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Kerbaugh, Rodes & Butler, PLLC 
Certified Public Accolliltants 

Danville, Kentucky 
February 14, 2019 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

The management team for the City of Lancaster (the City) presents this narrative to help our readers review the 
accompanying annual financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2018. We have prepared this overview 
and analysis of the City's financial activities to add additional information to the financial schedules and the note 
disclosures. Our analysis will examine the financial highlights for this fiscal year and help explain the format for 
our readers. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

► 

► 

► 
► 

As of June 30, 2018 the City's Assets (page 9) exceeded liabilities by $7,154,541. This amount includes 
$1,724,519 of resources that are restricted to specific projects by laws, regulations, or contractual 
agreements. The City has an unrestricted deficit net position of ($1,468,304) as of June 30, 2018, 
primarily related to the increase in the City's net pension and other post-employment benefit liabilities 
and related deferrals. 
Unrestricted cash and investment balances (page 9) as of June 30, 2018 were $1,016,861 and current 
liabilities payable from unrestricted resources were $560,064. 
Net position increased by $63,188 (page 10). 
Fund balances (A measure of current fmancial resources) in the governmental funds decreased 
$126,509 to $651,690 (page 13). Of this amount $423,066 (page 11) is unassigned and available for 
future programs, $226,085 is restricted to use for municipal road aid expenditures, and $2,539 is 
committed to use for planning and zoning activities. 

► The general fund unassigned fund balance (page II), as ofJune 30, 2018 was $423,066 or about 21 % of 
total general fund expenditures. 

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis is intended to introduce the City's basic financial statements. Basic fmancial 
statements include three major sections: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, 
and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information to provide 
additional information that our readers can use to analyze our finances. 

Government-wide financial statements - The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide 
our readers with an overview of the City's finances, presenting all funds in a more simplified format. This 
section is similar to financial reporting used by commercial entities. 

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all the City's assets and liabilities, including long-term 
debt and capital assets in the governmental funds. The difference between assets and liabilities is reported as net 
position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the 
financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed during the 
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as transactions occur, regardless of when 
the related cash flows are reported. Therefore, some revenues and expenses included in this statement may 
reflect cash flows that actually occur in future periods. 

Government-wide statements are separated into two major categories: I) governmental activities that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, and 2) business-type activities that are supported 
with user fees and charges. Governmental activities include administrative functions, streets, police, fire, 
recreation and community programs. Business-type activities include the water fund and the sewer fund. 

The government-wide statements are found on pages 9 and 10 of this report. 

Fund financial statements - Funds are used in governmental accounting to separate resources that are 
designated for specific programs or activities. The City, like other state and local governments uses fund 

3 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

accounting to demonstrate compliance with the laws, regulations, and contractual agreements that establish the 
authority for the City's programs and services. Governments use three types of funds: governmental, proprietary, 
and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds - Funds are used to account for the City's basic services, the same services that are 
included in the governmental activities on the government-wide statements. However, the information in the 
fund statements is measured differently. Governmental funds focus on current financial resources rather than 
economic resources. Therefore, the statements include the short-term resources, such as cash, investments, 
receivables that will be collected in the next few months, and liabilities that will be retired with these monies. 
This information is important for assessing the City's current fmancial resources. 

The reconciliation in the fund statements explains the difference between the governmental funds in the fund 
statements and the governmental activities found in the government-wide fmancial statements. These 
reconciliations are presented on pages 12 and 14 in the fund statements. These reconciliations will explain the 
adjustments necessary to add the long-term resources and liabilities for the government-wide statements to the 
current picture presented in the fund statements. 

The City maintains three individual governmental funds. Major governmental funds include the General Fund 
and Municipal Road Aid Fund. Toe Municipal Road Aid Fund is presented as a major fund this year because it 
includes significant grant funding from the Commonwealth of Kentucky that provided critical resources for our 
community. 

The larger funds are presented on pages 11 and 13 as major funds. The governmental fund statements include a 
balance sheet and statement ofrevenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. 

The City adopts budgets for all funds in accordance with Kentucky Revised Statutes Section 91A.030. Toe 
budgetary comparison for the General Fund and Municipal Road Aid Fund are presented on pages 38 and 39. 

Proprietary funds - Toe City's proprietary funds include two enterprise funds. The enterprise funds include 
operations for the water utility and the sewer utility. Toe water and sewer funds are presented as major funds on 
pages 15 through 18. 

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in 
more detail. 

Notes to the financial statements - Notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding 
of the information included in the financial schedules. Notes provide additional details about the balances and 
transactions in the City's financial statements and are presented on pages 19 through 37. 

Other information - Toe last section of this report includes supplementary information. Required 
supplementary Information must be included to conform to generally accepted accounting principles. Toe 
budgetary comparisons for the General and Municipal Road Aid Fund, the Management's Discussion and 
Analysis, the net pension liability information, and the net other post-employment benefit information are 
classified as required supplementary information. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED .TTJNE 30, 2018 

Government-Wide Financial Analysis 

The first statement in the government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Position. The following table 
summarizes the Statement of Net Position (page 9). 

Net Position of Governmental and Business-type Activities (in thousands) 

Current and other assets 

Capital assets 

Total assets 

Deferred outflows of resources 

Long-term debt outstanding 

Net pension liability 

Net OPEB liability 

Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Deferred inflows of resources 

Net position: 

Invested in capital assets, net 

of related debt 

Restricted 

Unrestricted (deficit) 

Total Net Position 

Governmental 
Activities 

2018 2017 

Business-type 
Activities 

2018 2017 

Total 

2018 2017 

$ 770 $ 850 $ 2,296 $ 2,085 $ 3,066 $ 2,935 

$ 

1,350 1,265 9,823 9,779 11,173 11,044 

2,120 2,115 12,119 11,864 14,239 13,979 

786 

44 

1,479 

576 

99 

2,198 

225 

1,307 

226 

(1,050) 

483 $ 

272 

93 

1,186 

374 

56 

1,709 

64 

1,121 

211 

(718) 

373 

4,231 

807 

238 

460 

5,736 

84 

5,592 

1,498 

(418) 

159 

4,367 

642 

187 

339 

5,535 

10 

5,412 

1,437 

(371) 

1,159 

4,275 

2,286 

559 

7,120 

309 

6,899 

1,724 

(1,468) 

431 

4,460 

1,828 

395 

6,683 

74 

6,533 

1,648 

(1,089) 

614 $ 6,672 $ 6,478 $ 7,155 $ 7,092 

By far the largest portion of the City's net position (96%) reflects its investment in capital assets, less any related 
debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to 
citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City's investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must 
be provided from other sources, since capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
$1,724,519 of the City's net position (page 9) are restricted to comply with provisions of various laws, 
regulations, and contractual agreements. Restricted funds in the business-type activities reflect the reserves 
required by the water and sewer bond and loan covenants. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

The second statement in the government-wide statements is the Statement of Activities. The following table 
outlines the major components of this statement. 

Change in Net Position of Governmental and Business-type Activities (in thousands) 

Revenues: 

Program revenues: 

Charges for services 

Operating grants and contributions 

Cap ital grants and contributions 

General revenues: 

Property taxes 

License fees and permits 

Fines and forfeitures 

Interest and investment earnings 

Miscellaneous 

Sale of asset-gain 

Total Revenues 

Program Exp ens es: 

General Government 

Public Safety 

Public Services 

Water 

Sewer system 

Interest expense 

Total Exp ens es 

Excess (deficiency) before transfers 
and special items 

Transfers 

Increase (decrease) in net position 

$ 

$ 

Governmental 
Activities 

2018 2017 

Business-type 
Activities 

2018 2017 

Total 

2018 2017 

353 $ 

152 

297 $ 1,962 $ 2,071 $ 2,315 $ 2,368 

367 

915 

40 

1 

45 

44 

1,917 

710 

1,278 

56 

4 

2,048 

(131) 

(131) $ 

139 152 139 

268 

879 

21 

1 

22 

46 

1,673 

629 

903 

53 

5 

1,590 

83 

83 $ 

419 132 419 132 

4 

19 

2,404 

1,538 

672 

2,210 

194 

194 $ 

4 

87 

2,294 

1,470 

687 

2,157 

137 

137 $ 

367 

915 

40 

5 

64 

44 

4,321 

710 

1,278 

56 

1,538 

672 

4 

4,258 

63 

63 $ 

268 

879 

21 

5 

109 

46 

3,967 

629 

903 

53 

1,470 

687 

5 

3,747 

220 

220 

Governmental services in the amount of$1,282,649 are financed with taxes, license fees, and interest earnings. 

Governmental activities decreased the City's net position by $131,059. This is primarily the result of police 
vehicle purchases in the general fund. 

Business-type activities increased the City's net position by $194,247. This increase is net of depreciation 
expense of$463,488 (anon-cash item). 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds 

The fund statements present the City's financial information in a more detailed format, but there are other 
differences as well. Fund statements provide important information about the City's compliance with laws and 
regulations that define the local govermnent enviromnent in Kentucky. The measurement principles in the 
govermnental fund statements are also different than the government-wide statements. Fund statements focus on 
current resources, while the government-wide statements present the long-term view. 

Governmental funds - Financial information for the City's governmental funds is summarized on pages lT and 
13. Govermnental fund balances decreased $126,509. 

Proprietary funds - The fund statements for the proprietary funds look much like the business-type activities in 
the govermnent-wide statements. Proprietary fund financial information is measured with the same principles 
used by commercial enterprises, so this information does not change from the fund statements to the 
govermnent-wide statements. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Budgetary comparison schedules include information about both the original budget and the amended budget. 
Generally, budgets are amended to add projects that were not anticipated when the budget was first adopted. 
Revenue budgets are usually estimated lower to allow budgetary flexibility for additional projects. There were 
no budget amendments in the general fund during the current year. 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

The City invests substantial resources in capital assets that support the services provided to the public. All of the 
City's outstanding bonds have been used to acquire or construct capital assets. 

Capital Assets 

The City's capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation are summarized below: 

City of Lancaster, Kentucky Capital Assets (net of depreciation) 

Governmental Business-type 

Activities Activities Total 

Land $ 60,000 $ 79,643 $ 139,643 

Plant building,; and maintenance 765,207 8,398,766 9,163,973 

Equipment and vehicles 435,294 267,548 702,842 

Construction in progress 89,835 1,076,821 1,166,656 

Total $ 1,350,336 $ 9,822,778 $ 11,173,114 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Long-Term Debt 

The principal outstanding on the City's long-term debt is sununarized in the following table. 

Governmental Business-type 

Activities Activities 

Fanners National Bank $ 43,737 $ $ 

Series 1988 Revenue Bonds-Sewer 593,000 
Series 2000 Revenue Bonds-Sewer 455,500 
Series 2005 Revenue Bonds-Sewer 358,600 
Series 2009 Revenue Bonds-Sewer 878,500 
Series 2010 Revenue Bonds-Sewer 1,476,000 
KIA Loan - Sewer 2008 264,561 
KIA Loan - Sewer 20 I 6 204,890 

Total $ 43,737 $ 4,231,051 $ 

Total 

43,737 
593,000 
455,500 
358,600 
878,500 

1,476,000 
264,561 
204,890 

4,274,788 

The City's outstanding debt decreased $136,139 during the current year as a result of scheduled principal 
payments. 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget 

The City currently has a large project connnitment outstanding as of June 30, 2018. A discussion of this 
commitment can be found at footnote L, page 37 of the financial statements. 

The City's management assesses the financial health of the City's funds on an ongoing basis and will continue to 
do so going forward. The most significant economic factors identified by the City's management that will have a 
direct adverse effect on the financial condition of the City next year and beyond are the continued increases in 
retirement rates mandated by the state related to the hazardous and non-hazardous duty employees. The rates are 
expected to continue to increase at a significant pace and will make it necessary for management to allocate the 
necessary funds to meet these higher retirement costs in the future. The funded status of the CERS plan will have 
a significant impact on the required contributions and the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
and OPEB liabilities. 

The City implemented a $0.50 payroll tax beginning in fiscal year 2018 to help fund the City's increasing costs. 
The City will continue to closely monitor spending in all funds going forward. 

Contacting the City's Financial Management 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a 
general overview of the City's finances and to show the City's accountability for the money it receives. If you 
have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the Mayor or City Clerk's 
Office, 308 West Maple Avenue, Lancaster, KY 40444, telephone number (859) 792-2241. 
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ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Investments ( certificates of deposit) 

Receivables, net of allowance: 

Taxes 

Customer accounts 

Grants 

Other receivables 

Prepaid expenses 

Restricted assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 

lnvesbnents ( certificates of deposit) 

Capital assets not being depreciated: 

Land 

Construction in progress 

Other capital assets 

Less: accumulated depreciation 

Total assets 

CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2018 

Governmental 

Activities 

$ 444,276 $ 

202,435 

76;J.37 

22,896 

5,320 

18,455 

60,000 

89,835 

2,118,312 

{917,811) 

2,119,955 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 786;J.54 

LlABILITIES 

AccoW1ts payable 93,454 

Accounts payable - contractors 

Accrued wages 6,020 

Customer deposits 

Accrued interest payable 

Noncurrent liabilities: 

Due w:ithin one year 43,737 

Due in more than one year 

Net Pension Liability 1,478,706 

Net OPEB Liability 575,889 

Total liabilities 2,197,806 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 225,554 

NET POSIDON 

Net investment in capital assets 1,306,599 

Restricted for: 

Debt service 

Municipal aid projects 226,085 

Unrestricted (deficit) {1,049,835) 

Total net position $ 482,849 $ 

Business-type 

Activities 

370,150 

170,370 

241,772 

15,928 

1,250,116 

248,318 

79,643 

1,076,821 

19,668,016 

{11,001,702) 

12,119,432 

373,089 

88,918 

218,330 

3,269 

119,100 

30,973 

150,217 

4,080,834 

806,867 

238,540 

5,737,048 

83,781 

5,591,727 

1,498,434 

{418,469) 

6,671,692 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Total 

$ 814,426 

202,435 

76;J.37 

193;J.66 

241,772 

5,320 

34,383 

l;J.50,116 

248,318 

139,643 

1,166,656 

21,786,328 

{11,919,513) 

l4;J.39,387 

1,159,343 

182,372 

218,330 

9;J.89 

119,100 

30,973 

193,954 

4,080,834 

2,285,573 

814,429 

7,934,854 

309,335 

6,898,326 

1,498,434 

226,085 

{1,468,304) 

$ 7,154,541 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position 
Operating Capital 

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-Type 
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total 

Governmental Activities 

General government $ (710,023) $ 352,526 $ $ $ (357,497) $ $ (357,497) 
Public safety (1,278,088) 81,640 (1,196,448) (1,196,448) 
Public services (56,410) 69,876 13,466 13,466 
Interest on long-term debt (3,586) (3,586) (3,586) 

Total governmental activities (2,048,107) 352,526 151,516 (1,544,065) (1,544,065) 

Business-type activities: 
Water (1,537,688) 1,406,278 419,058 287.648 287,648 
Sewer system (671,502) 555,365 (116,137) (116,137) 

Total business-type activities (2,209,190) 1,961,643 419,058 171,511 171,511 

Total primary government (4,257,297) 2,314,169 151,516 419,058 (1,544,065) 171,511 (1,372,554) 

General revenues: 

Taxe.s, levied for general purposes 367,099 367,099 
License fees and permits, levied for general purposes 915,550 915,550 
Fines and forfeitures 40,202 40.202 
Interest and invesbnent earnings 681 3,755 4.436 
Gain on sale of capital assets 44,303 44,303 
Miscellaneous 45,171 18,981 64,152 

Total general revenues, special items, and transfers 1,413,006 22,736 1,435,742 
Change in net position (131,059) 194,247 63,188 

Net position - beginning, as restated 613,908 6,477,445 7,091,353 

Net position - ending $ 482,849 $ 6~671,692 $ 7,154!541 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments ( certificate of deposit) 

Receivables (net.of allowance): 

Property taxes 

ABC taxes 
Utility franchise tax 

Payroll tax 
Customer accounts 

Other receivables 

Total assets 

UABD.,JTIES 
Accounts payable 

Accrued wages 

Total liabilities 

FUND BALANCES 

Unassigned 
Committed to planning & zoning use 
Restricted to municipal road aid projects 

Total fund balances 
Total liabilities and fund balances 

CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
BALANCE SHEET 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
JUNE 30, 2018 

Municipal 

General Road Aid 
Fund Fund 

$ 330,200 $ 111,537 

79,827 122,608 

7,600 

17,078 

25,436 

26,123 

22,896 

5,320 

$ 514,480 $ 234,145 

$ 85,394 $ 8,060 

6,020 

91,414 8,060 

423,066 

226,085 

423,066 226,085 

$ 514,480 $ 234,145 

See accompanying notes to :financial statements. 
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Planning Total 

and Governmental 

Zoning Funds 

$ 2,539 $ 444,276 

202,435 

7,600 

17,078 

25,436 

26,123 

22,896 

5,320 

$ 2,539 $ 751,164 

$ 93,454 

6,020 

99,474 

423,066 

2,539 2,539 

226,085 

2,539 651,690 

$ 2,539 $ 751,164 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET- GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO 

THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

TotaJ fund balance per fund financial statements 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are 
different because: 

Prepaid expenses in governmental funds are a use of financial resources and 
therefore are not reported as an asset 

Capital assets are not reported in this fund financial statement because they are not 
current financial resources, but they are reported in the statement of net position: 

Governmental capital assets 

Less: accumulated depreciation 

Certain items related to the City's net pension and OPEB liabilities do not affect 
available financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds. 

Certain liabilities (such as bonds payable, the long-tenn portion of accrued sick 
leave, and notes payable) are not reported in this fund financial statement because 
they are not due and payable, but they are presented in the statement of net position: 

Loan agreements 

Net position for governmental activities 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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2,268,147 

(917,811) 

$ 651,690 

18,455 

1,350,336 

(1,493,895) 

(43,737) 

$ 482,849 



CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

r 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

r Municipal Total 
Road Aid Planning Governmental 

General Fund Fund And Zoning Funds 

REVENUES: 

Taxes $ 367,099 $ $ $ 367,099 

Licenses & permits 915,550 915,550 

Fines & forfeitures 40,202 40,202 

Intergovernmental revenues 81,640 69,876 151,516 

I ' Charges for services 352,526 352,526 

Interest 417 264 681 

Other 44,524 647 45,171 

Total revenues 1,801,958 70,140 647 1,872,745 

EXPEND!TURES: 

Current operating: 

General government 668,862 668,862 

Public safety 1,067,844 1,067,844 

Public services 55,210 55,210 

Capital outlay 204,209 204,209 

Debt service: 

Principal 49,543 49,543 

Interest 3,586 3,586 

Total expenditures 1,994,044 55,210 2,049,254 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 

i before other sources and uses (192,086) 14,930 647 (176,509) 

I 
Other financing sources (uses): 

Sale of capital assets 50,000 50,000 

Total other sources and uses 50,000 50,000 

Net change in fund balances (142,086) 14,930 647 (126,509) 

Fund balances--beginning 565,152 211,155 1,892 778,199 

Fund balances-ending $ 423,066 $ 226,085 $ 2,539 $ 651,690 

L 
L 

L See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because: 

Net change in fund balances - total govemmenta1 funds 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures while governmental activities report depreciation expense to 
allocate those expenditures over the life of the asse~: 

Depreciation expense 

Capital outlay 

Governmental funds report sales of capital assets as revenues while governmental activities report the sale less the 
undepreciated basis of the property 

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the 
principal Of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction. 
however, has any effect on net position. A1so, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, 
discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the 
statement of activities: 

Principal payments on long-tenn debt 

Generally, expenditures recognized in the fund financial statements are limited to only those that use current financial 
resources, but expenses are recognized in the statement of activities when they are incurred: 

Prepaid insurance expense 

In the fund financial statements, pension and OPEB costs are recognized as payments are made to the plans; however, 
in the government-wide financial statements, pension and OPEB costs are recognized based on the overall changes in 
the net pension liability, net OPEB liability, and deferred inflows and outflows of resources. 

Change in net assets of governmental activities 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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(126,509) 

(113,024) 

204,209 

(5,697) 

49,543 

2,981 

(142,562) 

(131,059) 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

r 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
JUNE 30, 2018 

C 

I 

I Water Sewer Total 

ASSETS 
Current Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 335,219 $ 34,931 $ 370,150 

Restricted cash, cash equivalents, and investments: 
Cash and cash equivalents 891,541 358,575 1,250,116 

Receivables (net of allowance) 120,460 49,910 170,370 

Grants receivable 241,772 241,772 

Prepaid insurance 10,598 5,330 15,928 

Total current assets 1,599,590 448,746 2,048,336 

r: Noncurrent assets: 
Restricted certificates of deposit 15,210 233,108 248,318 

Total restricted assets 15,210 233,108 248,3 I 8 

Capital assets: 
Land 65,367 14,276 79,643 

Construction in progress 1,076,821 1,076,821 

Other capital assets 12,864,170 6,803,846 19,668,016 

Less: accumulated depreciation (6,335,399) (4,666,303) (11,001,702) 

Capital assets, net 7,670,959 2,151,819 9,822,778 I I Total noncurrent assets 7,686,169 2,384,927 10,071,096 

TOTAL ASSETS 9,285,759 2,833,673 12,119,432 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 256,470 116,619 373,089 

LIABILITIES: 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable 63,732 25,186 88,918 

Accounts payable - contractors 218,330 218,330 

Accrued wages 2,407 862 3,269 

l 
Customer deposits 119,100 119,100 

Accrued interest payable 23,300 7,673 30,973 

Notes & revenue bonds payable - current 69,200 81,017 150,217 

Total current liabilities 496,069 114,738 610,807 

L Noncurrent liabilities: 
Notes & revenue bonds payable 3,099,400 981,434 4,080,834 

L 
Net pension liability 576,366 230,501 806,867 
Net OPEB liability 157,524 81,016 238,540 

Total noncurrent liabilities 3,833,290 1,292,951 5,126,241 

L 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,329,359 1,407,689 5,737,048 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 55,840 27,941 83,781 

I 
NET POSITION 

Net investment in capital assets 4,502,359 1,089,368 5,591,727 
1.- •• 1 

Restricted for debt service & bond covenants 906,751 591,683 1,498,434 

L 
Unrestricted (252,080) (166,389) (418,469) 

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 5,157,030 $ 1,514,662 $ 6,671,692 

L See accompanying notes to :financial statements. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Water Sewer Total 

Operating revenues: 
Charges for services $ 1,374,428 $ 555,365 $ 1,929,793 

Connection fees 31,850 31,850 

Miscellaneous 12,469 6,512 18,981 

Total operating revenues 1,418,747 561,877 1,980,624 

Operating expenses: 
Personal services 461,604 174,165 635,769 

Contractual services 435,395 178,503 613,898 

Materials and supplies 248,444 117,199 365,643 

Depreciation 297,521 165,967 463,488 

Total operating expenses 1,442,964 635,834 2,078,798 

Operating income (loss) (24,217) (73,957) (98,174) 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 
Interest and investment revenue 1,172 2,583 3,755 

Interest expense (94,724) (35,668) (130,392) 

Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) (93,552) (33,085) (126,637) 

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers (117,769) (107,042) (224,811) 

Capital contributions - government grants 419,058 419,058 

Change in net position 301,289 (107,042) 194,247 

Total net position - beginning, as restated 4,855,741 1,621,704 6,477,445 

Total net position - ending $ 5,157,030 $ 1,514,662 $ 6,671,692 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Receipts from customers 

Payments to suppliers 

Payments for personal services 

Other receipts (payments) 

Net cash ·provided (used) by operating activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Capital contributions 

Acquisition and construction of capital assets 

Principal paid on capital debt 

Interest paid on capital debt 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

$ 

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Purchase of investments 

Interest and dividends 

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and equivalents - beginning of year 

Cash and equivalents - end of year 

(Continued next page) 

$ 

Water 

1,413,701 

(777,837) 

(410,916) 

12,469 

237,417 

308,980 

(246,001) 

(66,800) 

(95,219) 

(99,040) 

(94) 

1,172 

1,078 

139,455 

1,087,305 

1,226,760 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Sewer Total 

$ 570,410 $ 1,984,111 

(292,878) (1,070,715) 

(148,235) (559,151) 

Ii,469 

129,297 366,714 

308,980 

{43,270) (289,271) 

(69,339) (136,139) 

(36,114) (131,333) 

(148,723) (247,763) 

(2,125) (2,219) 

2,583 3,755 

458 1,536 

(18,968) 120,487 

412,474 1,499,779 

$ 393,506 $ 1,620,266 
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(Continued) 

CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Water 

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash 

Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 

Operating income (loss) $ (24,217) $ 

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 

provided (used) by operating activities: 

Depreciation expense 

Change in assets and liabilities: 

Receivables, net 

Prepaid expenses 

Accounts payable 

Accrued wages 

Customer deposits 

Net pension and OPEB liabilities and related deferrals 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information: 
Consttuction in progress included in accounts payable 

297,521 

10,338 

1,656 

(95,654) 

808 

(2,915) 

49,880 

$ 237,417 

$ 218,330 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Sewer Total 

(73,957) $ (98,174) 

165,967 463,488 

8,533 18,871 

549 2,205 

2,275 (93,379) 

276 1,084 

(2,915) 

25,654 75,534 

129,297 $ 366,714 

$ 218,330 
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

NOTE A- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies of the City of Lancaster (the City) conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting 
principles. The more significant of the government's accounting policies are described below. 

Reporting Entity 

The City of Lancaster, Kentucky, was incorporated on February 23, 1837, under the provisions of the Commonwealth 
of Kentucky. The City operates under a Mayor-Council form of government and provides the following services as 
authorized by its charter: public safety (police and fire), streets, sanitation, planning and zoning, and general 
administrative services. Other services include water and sewer operations. The City has evaluated various 
organizations with which it is related and determined that there are no component units as defined in Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board StatementNo.14, "The Financial Reporting Entity" and as amended by Statement No.39, 
"Determining Whether Certain Organizations are Component Units". Therefore, there are no component units included 
in the City's reporting entity. 

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report 
information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government. For the most part, the effect of inter-fund 
activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on 
fees and charges for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment is offset 
by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. 
Program revenues include I) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, 
services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly 
included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds (if any), even 
though the fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental 
funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the full 
accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized 
as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. 
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to 
pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Grant revenues are an exception, as they are considered available 
when eligible expenditures have occurred even though they may be collected for up to one year after the current fiscal 
year end. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt 
service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded 
when the liability has matured, with the exception of interest and principal which are recognized as expenditures when 
funds are transferred to the debt service fund to make payments due shortly after the fiscal year end. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE30,2018 

Property taxes, franchise taxes, payroll taxes, licenses, interest revenue, intergovernmental revenue, and charges for 
services are considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. 
Fines, permits, net profit tax revenues and special assessments are considered to be measurable and available only when 
cash is received by the City. 

Funds are classified into these categories; governmental, proprietary and fiduciary. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

The general fund is the government's primary operating fund. It accounts for all fmancial resources of the general 
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

The municipal road aid fund is used to account for revenues and expenditures of funds related to the Kentucky 
Street Improvement Program. 

The City reports the following major proprietary funds: 

The water utility fund and the sewer utility fund account for the activities of the utility services provided to the 
residents of the City and the surrounding areas. 

The City follows the guidance provided in GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AJCPA Pronouncements in the preparation of its financial 
statements. GASB Statement No. 62 directly incorporates the applicable Pre-November 30, 1989 guidance previously 
included in FASB and AJCPA Pronouncements. 

As a general rule the effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. 
Exceptions to this general rule are payments from the various funds to the general fund to compensate the general fund 
for administrative services provided. 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges 
provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Internally dedicated resources 
are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary 
fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the water and sewer fund are charges to 
customers for sales and services. The water and sewer fund also recognize as operating revenue the portion of tap fees 
intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds 
include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and 
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. When both restricted and 
unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government's policy to use restricted resources first, then 
unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

The preparation of the basic financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make use of estimates that affect reported amounts in the basic 
financial statements. Actual results could differ from estimates. 

Assets, liabilities, and net position or equity 

I. Cash Deposits and Investments 

The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on band, demand deposits, and short-term investments, 
which consist ofbigbly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE30,2018 

Kentucky Revised Statute 66.480 generally limits the City to investing in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. 
agencies, repurchase agreements, obligations of the Commonwealth of Kentucky and its agencies, insured savings and 
loans, and interest-bearing deposits of insured national or state banks. The deposits in excess of insurance coverage 
must be fully collateralized. 

Certain cash amounts are classified on the statement of net position as restricted because applicable bond indentures or 
other legal provisions limit their use. Restricted cash and cash equivalents are included and used for their respective 
purpose. 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the City considers cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments 
(including restricted assets) with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. 

2. Receivables and Payables 

Activities between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal 
year are referred to as either "due to/from other funds" (i.e., the current portion of inter-fund loans) or "advances 
to/from other funds" (i.e., the non-current portion of inter-fund loans). All other outstanding balances between funds are 
reported as "due to/from other funds." Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and 
business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as "internal balances'1

• 

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for un-collectibles. Trade accounts receivable in 
excess of 90 days comprise the trade accounts receivable allowance for un-collectibles. The property tax receivable 
allowance is based on varying percentages depending on the age of the receivable. 

3. Inventories 

Inventory of supplies and materials is charged to expenditures when purchased. Therefore, the City does not have any 
inventory to report. 

4. Restricted Assets 

Certain resources set aside for the repayment of the Water and Sewer Fund debt have been classified as restricted assets 
on the balance sheet because they are maintained in separate bank accounts and their use is limited by applicable bond 
covenants. The restricted assets have been accounted for in accordance with the provisions of the Water and Sewer 
Fund revenue bond resolutions or with state or federal laws and regulations. 

Debt Service Reserve - The City is required to set aside the maximum armual debt service. The City must continue 
deposits into the debt service reserve until the funds equal the amount required to retire all outstanding bonds and 
related accrued interest. 

Depreciation Reserve - Revenue bond covenants require the City to set aside funds monthly into separate depreciation 
reserve accounts. Also, Kentucky Infrastructure Authority (KIA) covenants require the City to transfer armually $4,750 
to a replacement reserve until $39,073 is accumulated in the account. The City made its final payment on October I, 
2007. The City is in substantial compliance with its bond and KIA covenants at year-end. 

The City's new KIA loan requires City to transfer annually $1,000 to a replacement reserve until $10,000 is 
accumulated in the account. This first deposit will be required beginning December I, 2018. 

5. Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include land, property, plant, infrastructure, and equipment, are reported in the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities colunms in the government-wide financial statements. The City has elected to 
prospectively report newly acquired or constructed general infrastructure assets, pursuant to the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 34. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

Capital assets are defmed by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $10,0.00 and an estimated 
useful life in excess of two years. All purchased capital assets are valued at cost where historical records are available 
and at an estimated historical cost where no historical records exist. Donated capital assets are valued at fair market 
value on the date received. 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are 
not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital 
assets, as applicable. 

Infrastructure, buildings, improvements, plant, equipment, and other capital assets of the government are depreciated 
using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives. 

Infrastructure 
Buildings 
Improvements 
Water & Sewer Distribution System 
Machinery & Equipment 
Vehicles 

10-50 Years 
20-50 Years 
10-20 Years 
10-50 Years 
5-10 Years 
3-10 Years 

Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the 
capitalized value of the assets constrocted. 

6. Accumulated Unpaid Vacation and Sick Pay 

Accumulated unpaid vacation and sick pay have not been accrued because the employees have no vested or 
accumulated rights. 

7. Long-term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, Jong-term debt 
and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type 
activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized 
over the term of the related issues. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable discounts and issuance costs. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and disconnts, as well as bond 
issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. 
Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuance are 
reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are 
reported as debt service expenditures. 

8. Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the County Employer's 
Retirement System Plan (CERS) and additions to/deductions from CERS' fiduciary net position have been determined 
on the same basis as they are reported by CERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contnbutions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair 
value. 

9. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Connty Employers' Retirement 
System Plan (CERS) and additions to/deductions from CERS' fiduciary net position have been determined on the same 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

basis as they are reported by CERS, For this purpose, benefit payments, (including refunds of employee contributions) 
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms, Investments are reported at fair value. 

10, Compensated Absences 

City employees are entitled to certain compensated absences based on their length of employment Compensated 
absences accrue as they are earned. However, the amount accrued at year-end was not material. 

I I, Management's Review of Subsequent Events 

The City has evaluated and considered the need to recognize or disclose subsequent events through February 14, 2019, 
which represents the date that these financial statements were available to be issued, Subsequent events past this date, as 
they pertain to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, have not been evaluated by the City. 

12. Equity Classifications 

Government-wide financial statements classify equity as net position. Net position is displayed in three components: 

a. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, leases, or other 
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

b. Restricted net position consists of net position with constraints placed on the use either by external 
groups such as creditors, grautors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, and by law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Unrestricted net position consists of all other net position that do not meet the definition of "restricted" 
or "net investment in capital assets". 

Fund financial statements report governmental fund equity as fund balance. Fund balance is further classified: 

a. Non-spendable fund balance includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in 
spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

b. Restricted fund balance includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes either (a) by externally 
imposed creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

c. Committed fund balance includes amounts that cau only be used for specific purposes pnrsuant to 
constraints imposed by formal action of the government's highest level of decision-making authority. The 
City's highest level of decision making authority is the City Council. 

d. Assigned fund balance includes amounts that are constrained by the government's intent to be used for 
specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. The City's Mayor is authorized to assign the 
fund balance. The City has not adopted formal procednres to show that the mayor has assigned the fund 
balance. 

e. Unassigned fund balance represents fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds and that has 
not been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. 

The City has determined that when both restricted and unrestricted funds are available, that they will use the restricted 
resources first. In addition, when expenditures could be deemed to have been expended by using committed, assigned or 
unassigned funds, the City has determined that the funds will be first categorized as assigned, second as committed and 
third as unassigned. 

Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in government-wide statements. 

13. Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balances in the governmental funds and 
net position reported in the government-wide statements. These adjustments reflect the changes necessary to report the 
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governmental fund balances on the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting. Capital 
assets, prepaid expenses, notes receivable, and long-term debt are added to the governmental funds to compile the long
term view of the governmental activities column. 

A similar reconciliation is included on the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances for the 
governmental funds. These adjustments reflect the transition from the modified accrual basis of accounting for 
governmental funds to the accrual basis of accounting for the statement of activities. Capital outlay is replaced with 
depreciation expense. Loans to other entities are added and repayments of those loans are subtracted. Debt proceeds are 
subtracted, while principal payments on long-term debt are eliminated from the operating costs. 

NOTE B - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

Budgetary Information 

The City follows the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements. 

Kentucky Revised Statutes 91A.030 requires the preparation and adoption of an annual budget in the form of an 
appropriations ordinance before the City may expend any monies from any governmental or proprietary fund and 
prohibits expenditures or expenses in excess of appropriations. KRS further provides that the full amount of debt service 
be appropriated. All appropriations lapse at year-end. The City's general fund expenditures exceeded its budget by 
$313,668 for the year ended June 30, 2018. 

To meet the legal requirements for appropriations, all budgets are presented on a modified accrual basis. For proprietary 
funds this means that certain capitalized receipts and disbursements are budgeted along with related revenue and 
expense, that depreciation, a non-cash expenditure, is not budgeted, and that the full amount of debt service is budgeted. 

Under Kentucky Revised Statutes, all local government units are required to have a June 30 fiscal year-end. The City of 
Lancaster has a June 30 fiscal year-end. 

Public hearings are conducted to obtain citizen comments and in order to comply with various federal and state 
mandates. 

Prior to June 30, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance by the city. 

Formal budgetary integration is utilized as a management control device for all governmental fund types and the water 
and sewer funds. 

An encumbrance system under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expenditures of monies 
are recorded is maintained. Encumbrances maintained at year-end do not constitute expenditures or liabilities. 
Encumbrances outstanding at year-end are re-appropriated in the next budget year. 

Property taxes 

The City bills and collects its property taxes through the Garrard County Sheriffs Office. The City elects to use annual 
property assessments prepared by the Garrard County Property Valuation Administrator. According to the Kentucky 
Revised Statutes, the assessment date for the City must conform to the January I assessment date of Garrard County. 

For the year ended June 30, 2018, taxes were levied November I, 2017 and were payable by December 31, 2017. A 2% 
penalty was imposed on all taxes delinquent as of January I, 2018 and a 10% penalty was imposed on all taxes 
delinquent as of February 1, 2018. 

The City is permitted by Section 157 of the Constitution of Kentucky to levy taxes up to $1.00 per $100 assessed 
valuation for general governmental services other than school purposes. Legislation passed by the Kentucky General 
Assembly imposed severe limits on the ability of a city to significantly increase property tax revenues. A city may not 
increase its revenues from taxes on real property, exclusive of increases due to assessment growth without giving notice 
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of such an increase and holding a public hearing on the matter. If that increase is less than 4%, that is all that is 
necessary, but if the increase is more than 4%, residents of the City may petition for an election to be held on the 
question. If the majority of those voting in a valid election vote against the proposed rate increase, the rate must be 
rolled back to one which will not produce more than a 4% increase. City tax rates of 15.6 cents per $100 on real 
property, 26 cents per $100 on personal property, and 24.2 cents per $100 on vehicles for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2018, are within permissible limits under the above legislation. 

NOTE C - Cash Deposits and Investments 

Deposits 

The City is required by Kentucky Revised Statutes to have the financial institution pledge securities having a current 
quoted market value at least equal to the uninsured deposits. At year end, the City is fully collateralized and all pledged 
investments were held in the City's name. 

Investments 

A reconciliation of cash and investments as shown on the Government-Wide Statement of Net Position at June 30, 2018 
is as follows: 

Canying Value Bank Balance 

Deposits $ 2,064,542 $ 2,080,462 
Investments 450,753 450,753 

Total $ 2,515,295 $ 2,531,215 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 814,426 
Investments - CD1s 202,435 
Cash and cash equivaJents-restricted 1,250,116 
Investments-restricted CD's 248,318 

Total $ 2,515,295 

The City's investments at June 30, 2018 are as follows: 

Type of Investment Fair Value Cost Interest Rate Maturity Date 

Governmental Activities: 
Farmers National Bank 

Certificate of Deposit $ 34,197 $ 34,197 0.15% 08/15/18 
Certificate of Deposit 38,085 38,085 0.15% 07/21/19 
Certificate of Deposit 5,047 5,047 0.15% 06/23/19 
Certificate of Deposit 2,498 2,498 0.15% 09/21/18 
Certificate of Deposit 122,608 122,608 0.15% 05/19/19 

$ 202,435 $ 202,435 

Business Type Activities: 
Farmers National Bank 

Certificate of Deposit $ 27,160 $ 27,160 0.50% 11/17/18 
Certificate of Deposit 26,191 26,191 0.15% 07/28/19 
Certificate of Deposit 20,652 20,652 0.15% 11/17/18 

Whitaker Banlc 

Certificate of Deposit 174,315 174,315 1.15% 06/27/19 

$ 248,318 $ 248,318 
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Interest Rate Risk. The City does not have an investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of 
managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
One hundred percent of the City's investments are in bank certificates of deposits. 

Concentration of credit risk. The City places no limit on the amount the City may invest in any one issuer. The City has 
I 00% of its investments in bank certificates of deposit (in 2 different banks). 

Custodial Credit Risk. Custodial credit risk for deposits and investments is the risk that, in the event of failure by a 
financial institution, the City may not be able to recover the value of its deposits and investments that are in the 
possession of the financial institution. The City's investment policy dictates that all cash maintained in any financial 
institution named as a depository be insured or collateralized, the collateral held in the name of the City, and that 
investments be registered in the name of the City. Collateral must be held by an independent third-party custodian. 

Note D - Capital Assets 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 

Governmental activities: 
General government 
Public Safety 
Public Services 

Business-type activities: 
Water 
Sewer 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

26,680 
85,144 

1,200 

113,024 

297,521 
165,967 

463,488 

The City had an active water treatment plant construction project active at the end of the prior fiscal year. The project 
was suspended during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 and resumed in fiscal year 2017. The costs incurred to date 
for this project are included in "construction in progress" on the water fund's balance sheet. 

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, was as follows: 

Beginning Ending 

Balance Increases Decreases Balance 

Governmental activities: 

Land $ 60,000 $ $ $ 60,000 

Buildings 1,079,977 1,079,977 

Equipment and vehicles 943,992 165,464 (71,121) 1,038,335 

Construction in progress 51,090 38,745 89,835 

Total cost 2,135,059 204,209 (71,121) 2,268,147 

Less accumulated depreciation: 

Buildings (286,890) (27,880) (314,770) 

Equipment and vehicles (583,321) (85,144) 65,424 (603,041) 

Total accmnulated depreciation (870,211) (113,024) 65,424 (917,811) 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 1,264,848 $ 91,185 $ (5,697) $ 1,350,336 
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Business-type activities: 

Land 
Water and Sewer plant 

Equipment 

Vehicles 

Construction in progress 

Total cost 

Less accumulated depreciation: 

Water and Sewer plant 

Equipment 

Vehicles 

Total accumulated depreciation 

Beginning 

Balance 

$ 79,643 

17,872,271 

1,494,573 

206,309 

664,083 

20,316,880 

(9,102,968) 

(1,235,054) 

(200,192) 

(10,538,215) 

Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 9,778,665 

Note E -Retirement Plan 

$ 

Increases 

58,264 

36,599 

412,738 

507,601 

(428,801) 

(17,199) 

(17,488) 

(463,488) 

$ 44,113 

Decreases 

$ 

$ 

Ending 

Balance 

$ 79,643 

17,930,535 

1,494,573 

242,908 

1,076,821 

20,824,480 

(9,531,769) 

(I ,252,253) 

(217,680) 

(11,001,702) 

$ 9,822,778 

The City is a participating employer of the County Employees' Retirement System (CERS). Under the provisions of 
Kentucky Revised Statue 61.645, the Board of Trustees of Kentucky Retirement Systems administers the CERS. The 
plan issues publicly available financial statements which may be downloaded from the Kentucky Retirement Systems 
website. 

Plan Description - CERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that covers substantially all 
regular full-time members employed in positions of each participating county, city, and school board, and any additional 
eligible local agencies electing to participate in the System. The plan provides for retirement, disability, and death 
benefits to plan members. Retirement benefits may be extended to beneficiaries of plan members under certain 
circumstances. Cost-of-living (COLA) adjustments are provided at the discretion of state legislature. 

Contributions - For the year ended June 30, 2018, plan members were required to contribute 5.00% of wages for non
hazardous job classifications, and 8.00% for hazardous job classifications. Employees hired after September I, 2008 
are required to contribute an additional 1 % to cover the cost of medical insurance that is provided through CERS. 
Participating employers were required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Per Kentucky Revised Statute 
Section 78.545(33), normal contribution and past service contribution rates shall be determined by the Board on the 
basis of an annual valuation last proceeding the July I of a new biennium. The Board may amend contribution rates as 
of the first day of July of the second year of a biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial 
valuation that amended contnlmtions rates are necessary to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial 
basis adopted by the Board. For the year ended June 30, 2018, participating employers contributed 19.18% of each 
employee's wages for non-hazardous job classifications and 31.55% for hazardous job classifications, which is equalto 
the actuarially determined rates set by the Board. Administrative costs of Kentucky Retirement System are fmanced 
through employer contributions and investment earnings. 

Plan members who began participating on, or after, January I, 2014, were required to contribute to the Cash Balance 
Plan. The Cash Balance Plan is known as a hybrid plan because it has characteristics of both a defined benefit plan and 
a defined contnbution plan. Members in the plan contribute a set percentage of their salary each month to their own 
account. Plan members in non-hazardous job classifications contribute 5.00% of wages to their own account and I% to 
the health insurance fund. Plan members in hazardous job classifications contribute 8.00% of wages to their own 
account and I% to the health insurance fund. The employer contribution rate is set annually by the Board based on an 
actuarial valuation. The employer contributes a set percentage of each member's salary. Each month, when employer 
contributions are received, an employer pay credit is deposited to the member's account. For non-hazardous members, 
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their account is credited with a 4% employer pay credit. For hazardous members, their account is credited with a 7.5% 
employer pay credit. The employer pay credit represents a portion of the employer contribution. 

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City contributed $117,641 for non-hazardous job classifications, and $85,334 for 
hazardous job classifications, or 100% of the required contribution for each. For non-hazardous employees, the 
contribution was allocated $88,813 to the CERS pension fund and $28,828 to the CERS insurance fund. For hazardous 
employees, the contnbution was allocated $60,045 to the CERS pension fund and $25,289 to the CERS insurance fund. 

Pension Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources -At June 30, 2018, 
the City reported a liability of $2,285,573 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The liability consisted 
of $1,155,210 for non-hazardous job classifications and $1,130,363 for hazardous job classifications. The net pension 
liability was measured as of June 30, 2016, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date and rolled forward to June 30, 2017. The City's proportion of the net 
pension liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to 
the projected contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2018, the City's proportion 
was .019736% for non-hazardous employees and .050524% for hazardous employees, which was equal to its proportion 
measured as of June 30, 2017. At June 30, 2017, the City's proportion was .017897% for non-hazardous employees and 
.055165% for hazardous employees, which was equal to its proportion measured as ofJune 30, 2016. 

For the year ended June 30,2018, the City recognized pension expense of $210,926. At June 30, 2018, the City reported 
deferred outflows ofresources and deferred inflows ofresources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred 

Outflow.; of Inflow.; of 

Resources Resources 

Differences between expected and actual results $ 42,892 $ 29,324 

Changes of assumptions 438,649 

Net difference between projected and actual eamlllgs on 
Plan investments 165,634 141,468 

Changes in proportion and differences between City 
contributions and proportionate share ofcontnbutions 68,800 90,509 

City contributions subsequent to the measurement date 148,858 

Total $ 864,833 $ 261,301 

The $148,858 of deferred outflows ofresources resulting from the City's contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2019. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in pension expense as 
follows: 

Year ending June 30, 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
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(27,170) 



I . ' 

l! 

L 
L 
L 
L 
L 

CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liability in the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation was detennined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Inflation 
Salary increases 
Investment rate ofretum 

2.30 % (3.25% in prior year) 
3.05%, average, including inflation (4.00% in prior year) 
6.25%, net of Plan investment expense, including inflation 
(7.50% in prior year) 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table for all active members, retired members, and 
beneficiaries. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 valuation were based on the results ofan actuarial experience study 
for the period July l, 2008 - June 30, 2013. 

The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of the regu1ar experience studies prepared every five 
years. Several factors are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumptions including long-term 
historical data, estimates inherent in current market data, and a log-normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate 
ranges of expected future real rates of return ( expected return, net of investment expense and inflation) were developed 
by the investment consultant for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-tenn expected 
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates ofreturn by the target asset allocation percentage and then 
adding expected inflation. TI1e capital market assumptions developed by the investment consultant are intended for nse 
over a 10-year horizon and may not be useful in setting the long-tenn rate ofreturn for funding pension plans which 
covers a longer time frame. The assumption is intended to be a Jong-tenn assumption and is not expected to change 
absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation assumption, or a fundamental change in the 
market that alters expected returns in future years . 

The target allocation and best estimates of nominal real rates ofreturn for each major asset class are summarized in the 
following table: 

Long-Term 
Target Expected Real 

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return 
US Equity 17.5% 5.97% 
International Equity 17.5% 7.85% 
Global Bonds 4.0% 2.63% 

Global Credit 2.0% 3.63% 
High Yield 7.0% 5.75% 
Emerging Market Debt 5.0% 5.50% 
Private Credit 10.0% 8.75% 
Real Estate 5.0% 7.63% 
Absolute Return 10.0% 5.63% 
Real Return 10.0% 6.13% 
Private Equity 10.0% 8.25% 
Cash 2.0% 1.88% 

Total 100% 

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.25 percent. The projection of cash 
flows used to detennine the discount rate assumed that local employers would contribute the actuarially detennined 
contribution rate of projected compensation over the remaining 26-year amortization period of the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability. The actuarial detennined contribution rates are detennined on an annual basis. The discount rate does 
not nse a municipal bond rate. 
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Sensitivity of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The 
following presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 6.25 
percent, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be ifit were calculated using a 
discount rate that is I percentage-point lower (5.25 percent) or I percentage-point higher (7.25 percent) than the current 
rate: 

1% decrease 
Current discount rate 
1 % increase 

Discount rate 
5.25% 
6.25% 
7.25% 

City's proportionate 
share of net pension 

liability 
$ 2,878,168 
$ 2,285,573 
$ 1,792,927 

Payable to the Pension Plan -At June 30, 2018, the City reported a payable of $30,215 for the outstanding amount of 
contributions to the pension plan required for the year ended June 30, 2018. The payable includes both the pension and 
insurance contribution allocation. 

NOTE F - Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan (OPEB) 

The City is a participating employer of the County Employees' Retirement System (CERS). Under the provisions of 
Kentucky Revised Statue 61.645, the Board of Trustees of Kentucky Retirement Systems administers the CERS. The 
plan issues publicly available financial statements which may be downloaded from the Kentucky Retirement Systems 
website. 

Plan Description - CERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit other postemployment benefit plan that 
covers substantially all regular full-time members employed in positions of each participating county, city, and school 
board, and any additional eligible local agencies electing to participate in the System. The plan provides for health 
insurance benefits to plan members. Health insurance benefits may be extended to beneficiaries of plan members under 
certain circumstances. 

Contributions -For the year ended June 30, 2018, plan members were required to contribute 5.00% of wages for non
hazardous job classifications, and 8.00% for hazardous job classifications. Employees hired after September I, 2008 
are required to contribute an additional I% to cover the cost of medical insurance that is provided through CERS. 
Participating employers were required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Per Kentucky Revised Statute 
Section 78.545(33), normal contribution and past service contribution rates shall be determined by the Board on the 
basis of an armual valuation last proceeding the July 1 of a new biennium. The Board may amend contribution rates as 
of the first day of July of the second year of a biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial 
valuation that amended contributions rates are necessary to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial 
basis adopted by the Board. For the year ended June 30, 2018, participating employers contributed 19.18% of each 
employee's wages for non-hazardous job classifications and 31.55% for hazardous job classifications, which is equal to 
the actuarially determined rates set by the Board. Administrative costs of Kentucky Retirement System are financed 
through employer contributions and investment earnings. 

Plan members who began participating on, or after, January I, 2014, were required to contribute to the Cash Balance 
Plan. The Cash Balance Plan is known as a hybrid plan because it bas characteristics of both a defined benefit plan and 
a defined contribution plan. Members in the plan contnbute a set percentage of their salary each month to their own 
account. Plan members in non-hazardous job classifications contribute 5.00% of wages to their own account and I% to 
the health insurance fund. Plan members in hazardous job classifications contribute 8.00% of wages to their own 
account and I% to the health insurance fund. The employer contribution rate is set annually by the Board based on an 
actuarial valuation. The employer contributes a set percentage of each member's salary. Each month, when employer 
contributions are received, an employer pay credit is deposited to the member's account. For non-hazardous members, 
their account is credited with a 4% employer pay credit. For hazardous members, their account is credited with a 7.5% 
employer pay credit. The employer pay credit represents a portion of the employer contribution. 
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For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City contributed $117,641 for non-hazardous job classifications, and $85,334 for 
hazardous job classifications, or 100% of the required contribution for each. For non-hazardous employees, the 
contribution was allocated $88,813 to the CERS pension fund and $28,828 to the CERS insurance fund. For hazardous 
employees, the contribution was allocated $60,045 to the CERS pension fund and $25,289 to the CERS insurance fund. 

OPEB Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources-At June 30, 2018, the 
City reported a liability of $814,429 for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The liability consisted of 
$396,761 for non-hazardous job classifications and $417,668 for hazardous job classifications. The net OPEB liability 
was measured as of June 30, 2016, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of that date and rolled forward to June 30, 2017. The City's proportion of the net OPEB 
liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the 
projected contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2018, the City's proportion was 
.019736 percent for non-hazardous employees and .050524% for hazardous employees, which was equal to its 
proportion measured as of June 30, 2017. 

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the City recogoized OPEB expense of $7,173. At June 30, 2018, the City reported 
deferred outflows ofresources and deferred inflows ofresources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred 

Outflom of Inflows of 

Resources Resources 

Differences between expected and actual results $ $ 2,075 

Changes of assumptions 240,393 

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on 
Plan investments 44,956 

Changes in proportion and differences between City 

contnbutions and proportionate share of contnbutions 1,003 

City contributions subsequent to the measurement date 54,117 

Total $ 294,510 $ 48,034 

The $54,117 of deferred outflows ofresources resulting from the City's contributions subsequent to the measurement 
date will be recogoized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ending June 30, 2019. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows ofresources and deferred inflows ofresources will be recognized in OPEB expense as 
follows: 

Year ending June 30, 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
Thereafter 

$ 47,951 
47,951 
47,951 
28,069 
15,968 
4,469 

Actuarial Assumptions - Tbe total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods mcluded in the measurement: 

Inflation 
Payroll growth rate 
Salary increases 
Investment rate of return 

2.30% 
2.00% 
3.05%, average, including inflation 
6.25% 
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Healthcare trend rates: 
Pre - 65 

Post - 65 

Initial trend starting at 7.25% at January I, 2019, and gradually 
decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 13 years 
Initial trend starting at 5.10% at January 1, 2019, and gradually decreasing 
to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 11 years 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table for all active members, retired members, and 
beneficiaries. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 valuation were based on the results ofan actuarial experience study 
for the period January 1, 2008 - June 30, 2013. 

The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of the regular experience studies prepared every five 
years. Several factors are considered in evaluating the long-tenn rate of retun1 assumptions including long-term 
historical data, estimates inherent in current market data, and a log-normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate 
ranges of expected future real rates of return ( expected return, net of investment expense and inflation) were developed 
by the investment consultaut for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-term expected 
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and then 
adding expected inflation. The capital market assumptions developed by the investment consultant are intended for use 
over a 10-year horizon and may not be useful in setting the long-term rate of return for funding pension plans which 
covers a longer time frame. The assumption is intended to be a long-term assumption and is not expected to change 
absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation assumption, or a fundamental change in the 
market that alters expected returns in future years. 

Sensitivity of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Trend Rate-The 
following presents the City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using the health care trend rate 
described above, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be ifit were calculated 
using a healthcare trend rate that is I-percentage-point lower or I-percentage-point higher than the current rate: 

1% decrease 
Current healthcare trend rate 
1% increase 

City's proportionate 
share of net OPEB 

liability 
$ 
$ 

$ 

599,996 
814,429 

1,085,578 

The target allocation and best estimates of nominal real rates ofreturn for each major asset class are summarized in the 
following table: 

US Equity 
International Equity 
Global Bonds 

Global Credit 
High Yield 

Asset Class 

Emerging Market Debt 
Private Credit 
Real Estate 
Absolute Return 
Real Return 
Private Equity 
Cash 

Total 

32 

Target Long-Term Expected 
Allocation Real Rate of Return 
17.5% 5.97% 
17.5% 7.85% 
4.0% 2.63% 

2.0% 3.63% 
7.0% 5.75% 
5.0% 5.50% 

10.0% 8.75% 
5.0% 7.63% 

10.0% 5.63% 
10.0% 6.13% 
10.0% 8.25% 
2.0% 1.88% 

100% 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 5.83 percent. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that local employers would contribute the actuarially determined 
contribution rate of projected compensation over the remaining 26-year amortization period of the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability. The actuarial determined contribution rates are determined on an anoual basis. The discount rate uses 
an expected rate of return of 6.25%, and a municipal bond rate of 3.56%, as reported in the Fidelity Index's "20-Year 
Municipal GO AA Index" as of June 30, 2017. However, the cost associated with the implicit employer subsidy was 
not included in. the calculation of the actuarial determined contributions, and any cost associated with the implicit 
subsidy will not be paid out of the trusts. Therefore, the municipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit 
payments associated with the implicit subsidy. The City's proportionate share of the implicit subsidy was $3,416 at June 
30, 2018. 

Sensitivity of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net OP EB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The 
following presents the City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated using the discount rate of 5.83 
percent, as well as what the City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be ifit were calculated using a 
discount rate that is I-percentage-point lower (4.83 percent) or I-percentage-point higher (6.83 percent) than the current 
rate: 

1% decrease 
Current discount rate 
1% increase 

Discount rate 
4.83% 
5.83% 
6.83% 

City's proportionate 
share of net OPEB 

liability 
$ 
$ 
$ 

1,064,589 
814,429 
608,245 

Payable to the Pension Plan-At June 30, 2018, the City reported a payable of $30,215 for the outstanding amount of 
contnbutions to the OPEB plan required for the year ended June 30, 20)8. The payable includes both the pension and 
insurance contribution allocation. 

NOTE G - Long Term Debt 

Revenue Bonds - Water and Sewer Funds 

I , Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds outstanding at June 30, 2018 are as follows: 

·l .. 
' i 

L 
L 
L 
L 
L 
L 

Series 

Series 1988 
'Series 2000 
Series 2005A 
Series 2005B 
Series 2009 
Series 2010 

Original 
Issue Interest 

Amount Rate 

1,300,000 5.000% 
600,000 4.375% 
250,000 4.375% 
170,000 4.250% 

1,015,000 2.375% 
1,641,000 2.500% 

33 

Maturity Debt 
Date Outstanding 

Fiscal Year June 30, 2018 

2028 $ 593,000 
2040 455,500 
2045 214,100 
2045 144,500 
2048 878,500 
2050 1,476,000 

$ 3,761,600 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

Revenue Bond Debt Service Requirements 

The annual principal and interest requirements of the water and sewer revenue bonds payable as of June 30, 2018, are as 
follows: 

Year Ending Water Sewer Total 

June 30, Principal futerest Principal Interest Principal Interest 

2019 $ 69,200 $ 93,201 $ 47,000 $ 29,650 $ 116,200 $ 122,851 
2020 71,500 91,119 50,000 27,300 121,500 118,419 
2021 73,800 88,977 52,000 24,800 125,800 113,777 
2022 76,200 86,752 55,000 22,200 131,200 108,952 
2023 78,500 84,453 57,000 19,450 135,500 103,903 

2024-2028 431,100 385,012 332,000 51,450 763,100 436,462 
2029-2033 504,700 314,708 504,700 314,708 
2034-2038 591,700 231,349 591,700 231,349 
2039-2043 595,100 136,724 595,100 136,724 
2044-2048 545,300 56,763 545,300 56,763 
2049-2050 131,500 4,950 131,500 4,950 

Total $ 3,168,600 $ 1,574,008 $ 593,000 $ 174,850 $ 3,761,600 $ 1,748,858 

Total Debt Service by Bond Series 

PrinciEal Interest Total Pa~ment 

Series 1988 Revenue Bonds - Sewer $ 593,000 $ 174,850 $ 767,850 
Series 2000 Revenue Bonds - Water 455,500 263,004 718,504 
Series 2005 Revenue Bonds - Water 358,600 256,841 615,441 
Series 2009 Revenue Bonds - Water 878,500 365,038 1,243,538 
Series 2010 Revenue Bonds - Water 1,476,000 689,125 2,165,125 

Total $ 3,761,600 $ 1,748,858 $ 5,510,458 

Bond Covenants and Provisions 

Under the various bond ordinances passed for the Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, certain covenants and provisions 
for the collection, segregation, and distribution ofrevenues of the water and sewer system were established. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the City is in substantial compliance with all covenants and provisions of the 
loan agreements. 

Kentucky Infrastructure Authority Loans - Water and Sewer Funds 

On December l, 2008, the City entered into an agreement with the Kentucky Infrastructure Authority to borrow 
$490,000 with an interest rate of 0.60% to be repaid over a twenty-year period. The proceeds of this loan were used to 
fund an expansion of the City's Waste Water Treatment Plant. 

On June 2, 2016, the City entered into an agreement with the Kentucky Infrastructure Authority to borrow $406,868 
with an interest rate of 0.75% to be repaid over a twenty-year period, beginning December I, 2018 and maturing June 1, 
2038. The proceeds of this loan were used to fund the City's Waste Water Treatment Plant Sand Filter Replacement 
Project. As of June 30, 2018, the City had drawn $204,890 of this loan. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

The Kentucky Infrastructure Authority Loans outstanding at June 30, 2018 are as follows: 

Original Maturity Debt 

Issue Interest Date Outstanding 

Issue Amount Rate Fiscal Year June 30, 2018 

2008 KIA Loan 490,000 0.60% 2029 $ 264,561 

2016 KIA Loan 406,868 0.75% 2038 204,890 

$ 469,451 

The annual principal and interest requirements of the above loans are as follows: 

Year Ending Sewer 

June 30, PrinciEal Interest 

2019 $ 34,017 $ 3,587 
2020 34,237 3,318 
2021 34,457 3,049 
2022 34,678 2,778 
2023 34,901 2,505 

2024-2028 177,905 8,366 
2029-2033 65,122 3,164 
2034-2038 54,134 1,123 

Total $ 469,451 $ 27,890 

Certain Covenants contained in the above loan agreements are as follows: 

I) The City shall maintain service charges for water and sewer activities sufficient to pay the Authority the 
minimum sums set forth in the loan agreement. 

2) The City shall place $4,750 into a "replacement reserve account" on or before December 1 of each year. These 
annual deposits are to be made until the balance reaches $39,073 and maintained for the life of the loan. The 
final payment was made October I, 2007. 

3) The City shall place $1,000 into a "replacement reserve account'' on or before December I of each year, 
beginning December 1, 2018. These annual deposits are to be made until the balance reaches $10,000 and 
maintained for the life of the loan. The first deposit will be made on December I, 2018. 

4) Other miscellaneous provisions. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the City is in substantial compliance with all covenants and provisions of the 
KIA loan agreements. 

These loans are subordinate to any previous debt of the City, including U.S. Department of Agriculture Rural 
Development Debt. 

Bank Loans - General Fund 

On July 29, 2013 through December 5, 2013, the City borrowed $235,186 from a local bank for the pmpose of 
purchasing a new fleet of police cruisers and related equipment. The interest rate on this loan is 3.75%. The loan 
agreement requires annual instalhnent payments of $53,075 through maturity, which is November 8, 2018. The vehicles 
and equipment are pledged as security for this loan 

The annual principal and interest requirements of the above loans are as follows: 

Year Ending 

June 30, 
2019 

Principal 
$ 43,737 $ 

35 

Interest Total 
546 $~=44;,,;;;le:;;8;;3 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

Summary of Debt Transactions 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2018, was as follows: 

Beginning 

Balance Additions Reductions 

Governmental activities: 

Notes payable - banks $ 93,281 $ $ (49,544) $ 

Governmental activity long-term liabilities $ 93,281 $ $ (49,544) $ 

Business-type activities: 
Revenue Bonds: 
Revenue Bonds-Water Fund $ 3,235,400 $ $ (66,800) $ 

Revenue Bonds-Sewer Fund 638,000 (45,000) 

Total Bonds Payable 3 873 400 (111,800) 

KIA Loans 

KIA Loans-Sewer Fund 493,790 (24,339) 

Total KIA Loans 493,790 (24,339) 

Business-type activity long-term liabilities $ 4 367 190 $ $ (136,139) $ 

NOTE H - Contingent Liabilities 

Ending Due Within 
Balance One Year 

43 737 $ 43,737 

43,737 $ 43,737 

3,168,600 $ 69,200 

593,000 47,000 

3 761,600 116200 

469 45 I 34,017 

469,451 34,017 

4231051 $ 150 217 

Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor agencies, principally 
the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the 
applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at 
this time although the government expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 

There are no lawsuits or pending litigation that the City believes will have a material effect on its financial statements. 

NOTE I - Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft ot; damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and 
omissions; natural disasters; and workers' compensation claims. Significant losses are covered by commercial insurance 
for all major programs except unemployment compensation and workers' compensation, for which the City retains risk 
of loss. For insured programs, there have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from prior years. Also, 
there have been no settlements exceeding insurance coverage for each of the past three years. The City participates in 
two pooled self-insurance programs sponsored by the Kentucky League of Cities. These include unemployment 
compensation and workers' compensation. 

NOTE J - Economic Dependency 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, approximately 49% of the water fund's operating revenue was derived from 
two wholesale users. The contract with one of these wholesale users runs through December 31, 2028. The contract with 
the other wholesale user was renewed during 2018 to extend the contract through June 30, 2062. The new agreement 
requires a minimum purchase agreement of 325,000,000 gallons when the new Water Treatment Plant Project 
(discussed in Note L) is substantially completed and placed into service. 
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NOTE K - Other 

CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the City (Lessor) entered into an agreement with the Commonwealth of 
Kentucky, Department of Corrections, Probation and Parole Division (Lessee) to lease certain premises to the 
Commonwealth in the amount of $39,390 per year. The lease calls for automatic extensions annually through June 30, 
2018. On July 11, 2017, the lease was extended to add six automatic annual extension periods through June 30, 2024 in 
the amount of $52,780 annually. 

NOTE L - Commitments 

As of June 30, 2018, there is one major construction project in progress. 

The Water Treatment Plant Project has a budget of $11,632,455. As ofJune 30, 2018, $1,249,577 had been spent on the 
above project. This project is being funded by the following sources: 

1. Rural Development Loan 
2. Rural Development Grant 
3. ARC Grant 
4. Kentucky Infrastructure Authority Loan 
5. Kentucky Infrastructure Authority Grant 3N-2012 

$ 4,500,000 
1,500,000 

500,000 
4,000,000 
1,132,455 

100 000 6. Bluegrass Water Supply Commission Grant 
Total Funding 

NOTE M -Restatement of Net Position 

Implementation ofnew accounting standard GASB Statement No. 75 

$ 11,732,455 

During 2018 the City implemented GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions., which addresses financial reporting for state and local government employers whose 
employees are provided with postemployment benefits other than pensions that are covered under Statement No. 74, 
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans. 

The guidance contained in Statement 75 changed how governments calculate and report the costs and obligations 
associated with postemployment benefits other than pensions. Under the new standards, GASB requires that cost
sharing governments report a net OPEB liability, OPEB expense, and OPEB related deferred inflows and outflows of 
resources based on their proportionate share of the collective amounts for all the governments in the plan. In addition, 
GASB requires Statement 75 to be applied retroactively, which has resulted in a restatement of beginning net position. 

The effects of the restatement of net position is as follows: 

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities 

Net position, beginning of year $ 987,585 $ 6,664,550 
Beginning net OPEB liability (373,677) (187,105) 

Net position, beginning of year, as restated $ 613 908 $ 6,477,445 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

GENERAL FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES & CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Revenues: 

Taxes 

Licenses & permits 

Fines & forfeitures 
Intergovernmental revenues 

Charges for services 

Interest 

Other 

Total revenues 

EXPENDITURES: 

Current operating: 

General government 

Public safety 

Capital outlay 

Debt service: 

Principal 

Interest 

Total expenditures 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues over expenditures before transfers 
and other sources 

Other financing sources (uses): 

Sale of capital assets 

Total other sources and uses 

E,ccess (deficiency) revenues over expenditures 

Fund baJances--beginning 

$ 

Budgeted Amounts 

Original 

432,000 

750,000 

3,200 

74,450 

297,390 

80 

127,200 

1,684,320 

677,950 

1,002,426 

1,680,376 

3,944 

3,944 

565,152 

$ 

Final 

432,000 

750,000 

3,200 

74,450 

297,390 

80 

127,200 

1,684,320 

677,950 

1,002,426 

1,680,376 

3,944 

3,944 

565,152 

Actual Amounts 

$ 

(Budgetary 

Basis) 

367,099 

915,550 

40,202 

81,640 

352,526 

417 

44,524 

1,801,958 

668,862 

1,067,844 

204,209 

49,543 

3,586 

1,994,044 

(192,086) 

50,000 

50,000 

(142,086) 

565,152 

Fund balances-ending $ 569,096 $ 569,096 =$===•2=3=,0=66= 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive (Negative) 

$ 

$ 

(64,901) 

165,550 

37,002 

7,190 

55,136 

337 

(82,676) 

117,638 

9,088 

(65,418) 

(204,209) 

(49,543) 

(3,586) 

(313,668) 

(I 96,030) 

50,000 

50,000 

(146,030) 

(146,030) 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

MUNICIPAL ROAD AID FUND 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES & CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR TIIE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Actual Amounts 

Budgeted Amounts (Budgetary 

Original Final Basis) 

Revenues: 
Municipal road aid $ 70,000 $ 70,000 $ 69,876 

Interest 50 50 264 

Other 40,000 40,000 

Total revenues 110,050 110,050 70,140 

EXPENDITURES: 

Current operating: 
Public services 110,050 110,050 55,210 

Total expenditures 110,050 110,050 55,210 

Excess (deficiency) revenues over expendirures 14,930 

Fund balances-beginning 211,155 211,155 211,155 

Fund balances-ending $ 211,155 $ 211,155 $ 226,085 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive (Negative) 

$ (124) 

214 

(40,000) 

(39,910) 

54,840 

54,840 

14,930 

$ 14,930 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 
REQUIREDSUPPLEMENTALSCHEDULEOF 

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY 
Last Five Fiscal Years"' 

Hazardous 
2018 2017 2016 

City's proportion of the net pension liability 0.050524% 0.055165% 0.057857% 

City's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) $ 1,130,363 $ 946,598 $ 888,160 $ 

City's covered employee payroll $ 270,473 $ 280,732 $ 286,798 $ 

City's share ofth.e net pension liability (asset) as a 

percentage of its covered payroll 417.92% 337.19% 309.68% 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of 

the lotal pension liability 49.78% 53.95% 57.52% 

Notes: 
There were no changes in benefit terms or the size or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms. 

The following changes of assumptions were adopted by the Kentucky Retirement System Board of Trustees 

for the measurement period ending June 30, 2017: 

1. The assumed investment rate ofreturn was decreased from 7.50% to 6.25%. 

2. The assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.25% to 2.30%. 
3. Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.00% to 3.05%. 

There were no changes to plan assumptions for the measurement period ending June 30, 2016. 

The following changes of assumptions were adopted by the Kentucky Retirement Syslem Board of Trustees 

for the measurement period ending June 30, 2015: 

1. The assumed investment rate of return was decreased from 7.75% to 7.50%. 

2. The assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.50% to 3.25%. 

3. The assumed rate ofwage inflation was reduced from 1.00% to .75%. 

4. Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.50% to 4.00%. 

5. The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected 

v.rith Scale BB to 2013 (multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females). 

2015 2014 

0.063241% 0.063241% 
759,851 $ 845,582 

295,943 $ 320,311 

256.76% 263.99% 

63.46% 57.74% 

6. For healthy retired members and beneficiaries, the mortality table used is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with 

Scale BB to 2013 (set back 1 year for females). For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Mortality Table 

projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 4 years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. There is some 

margin in the current mortality tables for possible future improvement in mortality rates and that margin will be reviewed again 

when the next experience investigation is conducted. 

7. The assumed rates of Retirement, Withdrawal and Disability were updated to more accurately reflect experience. 

40 
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Non-Hazardous 
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

0.019736% 0.017897% 0,017065% 0.017546% 0.017546% 

$1,155,210 $ 881,160 $ 733,532 $ 568,980 $ 642,288 

$ 613,353 $ 479,474 $ 434,012 $ 416,049 $ 402,532 

188.34% 183.78% 169.01% 136.76% 159.56% 

53.32% 55.50% 59.97% 66.80% 61.22% 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF PENSION PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS 
Last Six Fiscal Years 

Hazardous 
2018 2017 2016 2015 

Contractually required employer contribution $ 60,045 $ 60,947 $ 58,105 $ 61,349 

Contributions relative to contractually required employer contributic 60 045 60 947 58 105 61 349 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ $ $ $ -

City's covered employee payroll $ 270,473 $ 280,732 $ 286,798 $ 295,943 

Employer contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payrol 22.20% 21.71% 20.26% 

Notes: 
There were no changes in benefit terms or size or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms. 
See the previous page for the changes of assumptions effective for the measurement period ended June 30, 2017. 

20.73% 

Contractually required employer contributions exclude the portion of contributions paid to CERS but allocated to 

the insurance fund of the CERS. The above contributions only include those contributions allocated directly to 

the CERS pension fund. 

41 

2014 2013 2018 

$ 69,732 $ 63,533 $ 88,813 

69,732 63,533 88 813 

$ - $ $ 

$ 320,311 $316,085 $ 613,353 

21.77% 20.10% 14.48% 

Non-Hazardous 

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

$ 66,887 $ 53,903 $ 53,046 $ 55,308 $ 53,405 

66 887 53,903 53,046 55 308 ~405 

$ _$ ___ $ __ $ ___ $ 

$ 479,474 $434,012 $416,049 $402,532 $423,173 

13.95% 12.42% 12.75% 13.74% 12.62% 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF 

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY 

Last Two Fiscal Years* 

Hazardous 

2018 2017 

Non-Hazardous 

2018 2017 

City's proportion of the net OPEB liability 0.050524% 0.055165% 0.019736% 0.017897% 

City's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset) 

City's covered employee payroll 

$ 

$ 

417,668 

270,473 

$ 249,572 

$ 280,732 

$ 396,761 $ 311,210 

$ 613,353 $ 479,474 

City's share of the net OPEB liability (asset) as a 

percentage of its covered payroll 154.42% 88.90% 64.69% 64.91% 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of 

the total OPEB liability 58.99% 53.95% 52.39% 55.50% 

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined (measured) as of the previous fiscal year. 

Notes: 
There were no changes in benefit terms or the size or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms. 

The following changes of assumptions were adopted by the Kentucky Retirement System Board of Trustees for the 

measurement period ending June 30, 2017: 

I. 
2. 
3. 
4. 

5. 

6. 

The assumed investment rate ofreturn was 6.25%. 

The assumed rate of inflation was 2.30%. 

Payroll growth assumption was 3 .05%. 

The healthcare trend rate starting at 7.25% at January I, 2019, and gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend 

rate of 4.05% over a period of 13 years for pre-65. The healthcare trend rate starting at 5.10% at January-I, 2019, 

and gradually decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 11 years for post-65. 

The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 

2013 (multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females). 

For healthy retired members and beneficiaries, the mortality table used is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table 

projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back I year for females). For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined 

Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 4 years for males) is used for the period after 

disability retirement. There is some margin in the current mortality tables for possible future improvement in 

mortality rates and that margin will be reviewed again when the next experience investigation is conducted. 
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CITY OF LANCASTER, KENTUCKY 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF OPEB PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS 

Last Two Fiscal Years 

Hazardous Non-Hazardous 

2018 2017 2018 2017 

Contractually required employer contribution $ 25,289 $ 26,248 $ 28,828 $ 22,679 

Contributions relative to contractually required employer·contribution 25,289 26,248 28,828 22,679 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ $ - $ 

City's covered employee payroll $ 270,473 $ 280,732 $ 613,353 $ 479,474 

Employer contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payrol1 9.35% 9.35% 4.70% 4.73% 

Notes: 
There were no changes in benefit terms or size or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms. 

1 1 See the previous page for the changes of assumptions effective for the measurement period ended June 30, 2017. 
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Contractually required employer contributions exclude the portion of contributions paid to CERS but allocated to 

the pension fund of the CERS. The above contributions only include those contributions allocated directly to 

the CERS insurance fund. 
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Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City 
Council 

Lancaster, Kentucky 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Lancaster, Kentucky (the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes 
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements and have 
issued our report thereon dated February 14, 2019. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control 
over fmancial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the 
City's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention with those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in 
internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses and significant 
deficiencies. We consider the following deficiencies to be material weaknesses. 

I. Due to the limited number of employees within the City, there exists a lack of adequate 
segregation of duties related to recordkeeping and custody of assets. Due to the fact that the City 
is not in the financial position to hire additional employees, we reconnnend that the council 
continue to be involved in the financial review process on an ongoing basis and continue to review 
all procedures to assure that maximum segregation of accounting and asset custodial duties occurs 
whenever possible. 
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2. All transactions should be recorded in the general ledger. The City's transactions are recorded in 
the general ledger for the main operating bank account of each fund. However, there are several 
other baok accounts that have activity that is only tracked through the checkbook aod not 
maintained in the general ledger. The City hires ao accountaot to adjust its books to be in 
accordaoce with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. During 
this process, summary entries are made to record this activity into the general ledger. During the 
current year, there was significaotly more activity in these accounts than that of previous years and 
with an ongoing project, the activity will continue to increase. By not appropriately maintaining 
these accounts in the general ledger in detail, activity can be misclassified or not recorded in the 
correct period. During our audit procedures, we made multiple adjustments for activity in these 
accounts that was uot correctly recorded or not included as receivables or payables. The 
adjustments resulted in additions to capital assets of $40,184 that were misclassified, 
understatement of grant receivables and revenue of $100,000, and an understatement of accounts 
payable and construction in progress of $76,558. We recommend that activity from all bank 
accounts be recorded in the general ledger in detail to ensure that all transactions are appropriately 
recorded in the correct accounts and the correct period. 

Management's Response 
I. Management does not believe the addition of an employee for the purpose of improving 

segregation of duties is cost-beneficial to the City, but will continue to review our procedures to 
assure we segregate duties whenever possible. 

2. Management agrees with the auditor's recommendation aod will begin recording the detail activity 
for all bank accounts in the general ledger in a timely manner. 

Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of finaocial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not ao objective of our audit, aod accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed the following noncompliance that is required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards: 

I. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the City's expenditures exceeded its appropriations in 
the amount of $313,668. According to KRS 91A.030, "No city shall expend any moneys from any 
governmental or proprietary fund, except in accordance with a budget ordinance adopted pursuant 
to this section". Therefore, the expenditures in excess of budget represent a violation of KRS 
91A.030. 

City's Response to Findings 
The City's response to the findings identified in our audit is described above. The City's response was not 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we 
express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliaoce 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Kerbaugh, Rodes & Butler, PLLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

Danville, Kentucky 
February 14, 2019 
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